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RYAN ELLIS LAW CORPORATION 
Ryan A. Ellis, Esq. (SBN: 12199) 
3275 S. Jones Blvd., Suite 105 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 
Telephone: (702) 552-9000 
Email: ryan@ryanellislaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Brian Horowitz  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

BRIAN HOROWITZ, an individual; 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

CHRISTONE DISTRIBUTION, INC., a 
Delaware Corporation; DOES I through X, 
inclusive; and ROE Business Entities I through 
X, inclusive,  

Defendants. 

Case No:  

COMPLAINT 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff Brian Horowitz (“Plaintiff” or “Horowitz”) by and 

through his counsel of record Ryan A. Ellis, Esq., and for his Complaint against Defendant 

Christone Distribution, Inc. (“Defendant” or “Christone”) states the following: 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff is a United States Citizen currently residing in Orange County,

California. 

2. Defendant is a Delaware corporation with a principal place of business in

Las Vegas, Clark County, Nevada. 

3. The claims in this case relate to violations of United States patent laws

codified at 35 USCS § 271 et. seq. 

4. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction.

2:22-cv-01728
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5. Venue is proper in this Court.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

6. Plaintiff hereby re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every 

preceding paragraph of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.   

7. On or about May 31, 2016, United States Patent Number D757,637 (the “‘637 

patent”) was granted to Plaintiff for the protection of a certain folding wagon wheel tread 

design.  A true and correct copy of the patent is attached hereto and incorporated herein 

as Exhibit 1. 

8. From at least the time of filing the application for the ‘637 patent, Plaintiff 

has from time to time manufactured and/or sold and/or authorized his licensees to 

manufacture and/or sell products in the United States that embody the claims of his ‘637 

patent.  Such patented products included on their packaging a notice of the patent including 

the ‘637 patent number.    

9. Defendant is not licensed or otherwise authorized to make, use, offer for 

sale, and/or sell folding wagons that practice the claims of the ‘637 patent. 

10. In violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, beginning in August 2022 or before to the 

present, Defendant has been making, using, offering for sale, and/or selling folding wagons 

that practice the claims of the ‘637 patent (hereinafter, the “Accused Products”).  A true 

and correct copy of images of some of these Accused Products is attached herewith and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit 2. 

11. On or about August 11, 2022, Plaintiff’s counsel mailed a letter to 

Defendant to notify Defendant of its infringement of the ‘637 patent and to request 

Defendant cease and desist such unauthorized acts of infringement and to request 

manufacturing, importation, and sales information relating to the Accused Products from 

Defendant.  A true and correct copy of a letter sent by one of Plaintiff’s attorneys that was 

sent to Defendant on or about August 11, 2022 is attached herewith and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit 3. 
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12. Defendant sent a letter to Plaintiff on or about August 22, 2022, wherein 

Defendant communicated the following: 

a. Defendant imported about 418 wagons of which it sold up to that time 

approximately 218 units; 

b. At that time Defendant had about 178 wagons remaining; 

c. Defendant admitted that Plaintiff has “patent rights;” and 

d.  Defendant admitted that its wagons practice Plaintiff’s claimed patented 

rights.   

A true and correct copy of Defendant’s August 22, 2022, letter is attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit 4. 

13. Defendant continues to manufacture, import, use, advertise for sale and/or 

sell Accused Products that practice at least one claim of the ‘637 patent. 

14. Plaintiff has suffered damages in the form of lost profits and/or lost royalties 

resulting from Defendant’s displaced sales of his or his authorized licensees’ folding 

wagon products that read on the claimed design of the ‘637 patent.  

15. Plaintiff is filing this action for enforcement against Defendant’s 

infringement upon his rights under his ‘637 patent. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION  

Patent Infringement of U.S. Patent No. D757,637 

(against all Defendants) 

16. Plaintiff hereby re-alleges and incorporates by reference each and every 

preceding paragraph of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein. 

17. Plaintiff is the rightful owner of United States Patent Number D757,637. 

18. Plaintiff’s ‘637 patent is valid. 

19. Plaintiff’s ‘637 patent claims the design as depicted in the drawings of the 

patent. See Exhibit 1. 

20. Specifically, the ‘637 patent claims a tire tread design that includes the 

following: 

Case 2:22-cv-01728-GMN-EJY   Document 1   Filed 10/13/22   Page 3 of 56



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

-4-

a. A tire tread that is at least several times wider than the height of the

sidewall of the tire;

b. A tire tread that is relatively flat up to the shoulders of the tread that curve

into the sidewall of the tire;

c. A transition from the tread to the sidewall with a distinctly curved shoulder;

d. Lugs that begin about the middle of the tread and curve away from the

middle of the tread to the shoulder and that gradually reduce to daylight into

the sidewall at the edge of the shoulder; and

e. Every other lug curving in opposing directions and daylighting at or near

opposing shoulders.

21. Defendant’s Accused Products include wheels with tire treads that practice

the following: 

a. A tire tread that is at least several times wider than the height of the  sidewall

of the tire;

b. A tire tread that is relatively flat up to the shoulders of the tread that curve

into the sidewall of the tire;

c. A transition from the tread to the sidewall with a distinctly curved shoulder;

d. Lugs that begin about the middle of the tread and curve away from the

middle of the tread to the shoulder and that gradually reduce to daylight into

the sidewall at the edge of the shoulder; and

e. Every other lug curving in opposing directions and daylighting at or near

opposing shoulders.

22. All Accused Products made, used, offered for sale, and/or sold by the

Defendant include wheels with tire treads that are substantially similar enough to the tire 

tread depicted in the claims of the ‘637 patent that an ordinary observer would not be able 

to distinguish between the ‘637 patent’s design and Defendant’s tire treads.  
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23. From at least August 2022 until the present, Defendant has made, used,

offered for sale and/or sold folding wagons that practice at least one of claims of the ‘637 

patent.  See Exhibit 2. 

24. Defendant is not authorized to make, use, offer for sale, or sell folding

wagons that practice any of the claims of the ‘637 patent.  

25. Plaintiff and/or Plaintiff’s licensees have, prior to May 31, 2016, and from

time to time, manufactured and/or sold folding wagons that are marked with the entirety of 

Plaintiff’s ‘637 patent number.   

26. Pursuant to 35 USC § 271, Defendant is liable for infringement of Plaintiff’s

‘637 patent. 

27. Upon information and belief, Defendant has sold additional Accused

Products that practice the claims of the ‘637 patent that are not identified in Exhibit 2.  

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend his Complaint if necessary or otherwise seek relief for 

infringement of all of Defendants’ Accused Products in any variations that Plaintiff 

discovers during the course of this lawsuit. 

RELIEF SOUGHT 

WHEREFORE, and for Plaintiff’s claims as alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiff 

prays this Court for judgment in his favor and against Defendants, and each of them, as 

follows: will enter judgment in his favor: 

1. Pursuant 35 USCS §83, a preliminary and permanent injunction to order

Defendants to immediately discontinue the manufacturing, importing, advertising for 

sale, selling and/or using of any Accused Products;  

2. Damages as provided in 35 USCS §284 to be determined by the Court to

compensate Plaintiff for Defendants’ infringement of the ‘637 patent in the amount 

Defendant has realized in profits from sales of infringing wagons.  In the alternative 

Plaintiff seeks damages in the amount of a reasonable royalty.   

3. Treble damages for any of Defendant’s intentional infringement of

Plaintiff’s ‘637 patent; 
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4. Reasonable attorney’s fees and costs; and

5. For any such further relief that the Court deems just and proper.

Dated this 13th day of October, 2022.

Respectfully Submitted, 
RYAN ELLIS LAW CORPORATION 

/s/ Ryan A. Ellis 
RYAN A. ELLIS, ESQ. (SBN: 12199) 
E-mail: ryan@ryanellislaw.com
3275 South Jones Blvd., Suite 105
Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
Telephone: (702) 552-9000

Attorneys for Plaintiff Brian Horowitz 
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Hor. v. Christone 
Complaint
"EXHIBIT A"
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